FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/16/2023 4:38 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102534-3 (Court of Appeals No. 83243-3-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER GATES,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW Amended per Court's ruling of November 13, 2023

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
lila@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

So what we have, Your Honor, just on the face of this case is a man charged with murder in the first degree who went essentially a year and a half, if not more, with no representation, with no work done in this case.

1RP 347. These are the words of the Deputy Director of the King County Department of Public Defense, acknowledging the county's failure to provide counsel for Christopher Gates.

The government charged Mr. Gates with a serious crime but did not provide him counsel as guaranteed by the Constitution. For two years, Mr. Gates begged the court to appoint attorneys who would work on his case, but the court denied his motions and left him with lawyers who were over caseload limits and did next to nothing.

The court should have dismissed the case for government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b). Instead, the trial court and Court of Appeals blamed *Mr. Gates* for insisting that his rights be respected.

Mr. Gates, a young Black male, filed respectful motions for appointment of available counsel. In court, he politely made the same request. But although every level of DPD management eventually admitted Mr. Gates's motions had merit, the courts treated him with contempt, dismissing his valid motions as baseless "complaining." This Court should grant review and order dismissal under CrR 8.3(b).

This Court should also grant review to address the prosecutor's racist misconduct. After defense counsel correctly told the jury it had to consider Mr. Gates's experience as a young, Black male in Seattle when evaluating self-defense, the prosecutor expressed indignation and falsely accused Mr. Gates of asking for a "different law" for different people based on "who they are." The prosecution's response brief on appeal doubled down on the racist rhetoric, and implied that the "reasonable person" is a middle-aged white person in privileged communities. The Court of Appeals affirmed anyway, minimizing the racist misconduct as "unartful" argument.

The court also wrongly ruled a Lyft driver's nonconsensual recording of a conversation with his sole passenger did not violate the Privacy Act. This issue is of substantial public importance in an age where technological advances threaten to eradicate privacy rights.

Finally, this Court should take the opportunity to revisit the constitutionality of ER 609, or at least the question of whether robbery is a crime of dishonesty. Robbery has nothing to do with truthful testimony, and the use of a prior conviction to impeach violates a defendant's right to testify under article I, section 22. Moreover, as trial counsel explained, the use of a prior conviction to impeach preys on jurors' tendencies to view Black men as dangerous and vitiates any chance of a fair trial.

This Court should grant review.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Christopher Gates asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals filed October 10, 2023. Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. CrR 8.3(b) provides for dismissal of charges where government mismanagement prejudices a defendant. King County DPD management admitted that Mr. Gates was constructively without counsel for at least a year and a half, causing his trial to be continued for almost two years before the pandemic even started.

Did the subsequent substitution of counsel and trial over three years after charging fail to cure the violation, requiring dismissal of charges under CrR 8.3(b)? And did the Court of Appeals improperly read CrR 8.3(b) out of existence by holding that dismissal under that rule is not available unless dismissal is required under CrR 3.3? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

2. Race-based prosecutorial misconduct violates a defendant's right to a fair trial and requires automatic reversal. In this self-defense case, defense counsel correctly told the jury that it had to assess the reasonableness of Mr. Gates's actions in light of his circumstances and experiences as a young, Black

male in a community where everyone is armed (including the decedent in this case). In rebuttal, the prosecutor expressed outrage and falsely told the jury Mr. Gates was arguing that Black people "get a different law." Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Mr. Gates of a fair trial, and did the Court of Appeals err in dismissing race-based misconduct as merely "unartful" argument? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

3. Washington's robust Privacy Act prohibits the nonconsensual recording of private conversations, and "any information obtained" in violation of the Act must be suppressed, including associated "visual observations." Here, a Lyft driver recorded audio and video during a three-minute conversation with his sole passenger, who was sitting next to him in the front seat. Did the trial court err in concluding that this conversation between two people who were alone in a moving vehicle was not private, and in ruling that regardless, the portion of the recording capturing the gunshots was admissible? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

- 4. Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution explicitly guarantees the right to testify. Const. art. I, § 22. Did the admission of Mr. Gates's prior robbery conviction to impeach his testimony violate his rights under article I, section 22, and should this Court overrule its contrary holding in *State* v. Ruzicka, 89 Wn.2d 217, 570 P.2d 2108 (1977)? Regardless of constitutional concerns, was the admission of a robbery conviction to impeach improper because robbery is not a crime of dishonesty, and should this Court overrule its contrary holdings in *State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991) and State v. Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 921 P.2d 495 (1996), which themselves overruled prior cases that were correctly decided? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 5. Did the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in resistance of a felony violate Mr. Gates's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. After seeing another man retrieve a gun and walk toward him, Mr. Gates shot and killed the man.

Christopher Gates was a stellar student in high school and at the University of Washington, until he was forced to withdraw for financial reasons. CP 489-90, 515. As a young adult, he served as a team director for the Urban League of Metropolitan Seattle's homeless outreach program. CP 489, 509, 532, 535; 7/15/21RP 13. When Mr. Gates wasn't working, he enjoyed spending time with his girlfriend. 7/15/21 RP 17.

One night in April 2018, Mr. Gates and his girlfriend went to the Cedar Room, a club in Seattle, where they met up with some other friends. 7/15/21RP 25-27. After they left the club, they noticed two men were staring at them. 7/15/21RP 36.

¹ Mr. Gates cites most volumes of the VRPs by date. However, the two volumes transcribed by court reporter Donley each contain numerous dates, so Mr. Gates cites these transcripts as "1RP" and "2RP," corresponding to title pages designating "Volume I" and "Volume II."

One of the men grabbed something from his car.

7/15/21RP 42. Mr. Gates thought it might have been a weapon.

7/15/21RP 44.

The man passed the object to his companion, and they both looked around as if they were trying to conceal something. 7/15/21RP 45; Ex. 43 at 4:58-5:02. This action confirmed Mr. Gates's suspicion that the object was a weapon. 7/15/21RP 45-46; *see also* 7/12/21RP 1339-40 (man testifies he passed his friend a gun).

The armed man started walking in the direction of Mr. Gates and his group. 7/15/21RP 46. The man's friend kept "intently staring" at them. 7/15/21RP 48.

It was really dark, and Mr. Gates saw the armed man's "silhouette moving ... down the street" toward them.

7/15/21RP 49. "It was clear" to Mr. Gates "that what was happening was directly in response to noticing [his group] in the street." 7/15/21RP 49.

The armed man's friend started tailing him. 7/15/21RP 49; Ex. 43 at 5:10-5:18. The friend had left the car door open, "like he's not planning on being away from his car that long, but he's coming down the street to do something or watch something." 7/15/21RP 49; Ex. 43 at 5:10-5:18. Mr. Gates "start[ed] to get really nervous." 7/15/21RP 49. This fear was exacerbated by the fact that he couldn't watch both men at once because they were too far apart from each other. 7/15/21RP 51-52.

The man with the gun looked over at Mr. Gates and his friends and then looked away quickly, signaling to Mr. Gates that he was paying close attention to them while trying to act as if he was not. 7/15/21RP 57-58. Mr. Gates was worried that "the reason why he [was] paying attention to us [was] connected to the reason why he just armed himself with this weapon and put it in his pocket." 7/15/21RP 58.

Mr. Gates backed up to the other side of the street. 7/15/21RP 60.

The man with the gun kept looking at them and then looking away. 7/15/21RP 61. Mr. Gates was "getting more scared." 7/15/21RP 62.

The armed man appeared to swivel toward Mr. Gates and start to draw his arm out of his pocket. 7/15/21RP 64.

Mr. Gates was afraid of being shot and afraid of one of his friends being shot. 7/15/21RP 64. When he perceived the armed man start to "draw from his pocket," Mr. Gates drew his own gun and fired to the man's side as a deterrent. 7/15/21RP 65, 72. But the man finished drawing his gun and pointed it at them, so Mr. Gates continued to fire as he was running away. 7/15/21RP 66-67. Mr. Gates wanted "to protect [himself] and [his] friends and to make sure that [they] were not hurt or killed." 7/15/21RP 69.

Although Mr. Gates did not know if he had hit the man, the man died that evening as a result of a bullet wound.

7/15/21RP 68; 7/12/21RP 1347.

2. The Government charged Mr. Gates with murder, but it appointed attorneys who were over caseload limits and did not work on the case. The case sat for nearly two years <u>before</u> the pandemic.

The King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office did not view the shooting as self-defense. Instead, on May 2, 2018, the State charged Mr. Gates with murder. CP 1-2.

The King County Department of Public Defense ("DPD") assigned Lin-Marie Nacht and Andrew Repanich to represent Mr. Gates. CP 595-605. These attorneys worked in the "SCRAP" division of DPD. *Id*.

Attorney Repanich met with Mr. Gates in July of 2018. CP 612. Repanich told Mr. Gates he would be leaving SCRAP soon because the caseloads were too high. CP 612.

On September 20, 2018 Mr. Gates moved for new counsel. CP 9. He explained his attorneys were too busy, had barely communicated with him, and had made little progress in the case. 1RP 20. Attorney Nacht agreed she was "extremely busy," but insisted she could continue on the case. 1RP 21. The

court denied the motion for substitution. CP 9; 1RP 23. Around the same time, attorney Repanich left SCRAP. 1RP 20-21, 27.

In October 2018, Mr. Gates again asked to discharge counsel because of the lack of communication and lack of work done on his case. 1RP 27-30. Attorney Nacht explained "it took [DPD] a little while to figure out" who would replace attorney Repanich, but that Colleen O'Connor would be Mr. Gates's second attorney. 1RP 27. However, Ms. O'Connor hadn't met Mr. Gates yet because she was in another murder trial. 1RP 28.

Mr. Gates was concerned because he was told attorney O'Connor's schedule "was nearly as crazy as Ms. Nacht's."

1RP 28. Mr. Gates said Nacht "revealed to me that she has been over case load for at least the last couple months, and I feel like that is very -- having a very detrimental effect on my defense thus far." 1RP 29.

On November 1, 2018, the attorneys requested a trial date at the end of March, 2019. 1RP 34. But Mr. Gates did not want to waive his speedy trial rights again. He asked the court to

address the problems with counsel "immediately," so he could have both prepared counsel and a speedy trial. 1RP 34-36. The court set a hearing on these issues for November 5, 2018. 1RP 38.

On November 5, Mr. Gates again asked to discharge counsel, explaining the problems were "not obviated because of the appointment of Ms. O'Connor" and that his attorneys still had not reviewed the discovery. 1RP 49, 51, 56. The court asked O'Connor if she would be ready for trial "within the current speedy expiration on the 25th of December," and she said, "No." 1RP 56. The court continued trial to January 16, 2019. 1RP 56.

On November 18, 2018, Mr. Gates again requested new counsel, stating his attorneys were not communicating with him, were not prepared, and "I've been in King County Correctional Facility for over six months." 1RP 81-88. The court again denied the request, but it ordered the attorneys to have a face-to-face meeting with Mr. Gates. 1RP 87-88.

Ten days later, Mr. Gates moved to proceed pro se "under duress." 1RP 92. He stated, "I was forced to elect to go pro se in that I've been constructively denied counsel." 1RP 91. "I can either go pro se and not have an attorney or move forward with my attorney and constructively not have an attorney anyway." 1RP 96.

The court ultimately denied the motion after Mr. Gates was unable to answer the question of what the standard ranges were for the charges in his case. 1RP 147-48.

In January 2019, attorney Nacht withdrew because she was being reassigned from Seattle to Kent. 1RP 113, 117. Mr. Gates did not object because Nacht had not had time to work on his case. 1RP 114. She "had been audited by her office and was found to be over the Washington State Supreme Court's mandated case load limit." CP 614. But Mr. Gates objected to simply replacing Nacht with another SCRAP attorney. 1RP 114-15. He requested removal of the SCRAP office in light of the mismanagement of his case. 1RP 114-15. The court denied

the request, and appointed Victoria Freer as co-counsel. 1RP 117, 125-26.

Since Ms. Freer was new to the case and Ms. O'Connor had been in other trials, the attorneys requested another continuance. 1RP 117-18. The court asked Mr. Gates if he agreed to the continuance, and he explained he had no choice. He said, "I have objected to continuing my trial date. At the same time, I acknowledge that ... neither of my attorneys ... are ready for trial." 1RP 127. The court granted a continuance. CP 632; 1RP 127-29.

In March, defense counsel requested another continuance. CP 633. Mr. Gates again objected, but the court granted the request. CP 633.

The next hearing occurred in May of 2019. 1RP 133.

More than a year had passed since King County charged Mr.

Gates, but defense counsel still was not ready for trial.

Mr. Gates again moved to discharge counsel. CP 650-60. This time, the attorneys joined in his motion, stating there was

an irreconcilable conflict because of their caseloads. 1RP 145. Following Freer's appointment in January, neither attorney visited Mr. Gates until April. CP 642; 1RP 139. Attorney O'Connor explained to Mr. Gates that both counsel had been in other trials since January and were too busy to visit him. CP 642-44. She expressed sympathy for Mr. Gates, but explained her schedule was out of her control. CP 643-44. Mr. Gates moved to discharge the SCRAP office due to the lack of resource allocation to his case. CP 634-60.

The court blamed Mr. Gates. The judge opined that "the irreconcilable differences in this case basically flows one way, and it's from Mr. Gates." 1RP 146. Although the court's comments were disrespectful and inaccurate, Mr. Gates maintained his composure, stating, "Your Honor, I'd have to disagree with your characterization of the situation." 1RP 146.

Defense counsel still was not ready for trial in the summer of 2019, and trial was continued again to September.

CP 684. Mr. Gates moved to discharge counsel again, averring

his attorneys agreed that "my concerns and grievances are warranted and that there has been not enough time and attention paid to my case by my counsel due largely I believe to their schedules." 1RP 170. Mr. Gates stated, "The mismanagement of my case has been cumulative and continual since its inception..." CP 688. The court again refused to substitute counsel. CP 685.

Trial did not occur in September 2019. The court ordered a continuance to October 28. But on October 22, attorney

O'Connor moved for another continuance because attorney

Freer was in another trial and the two were not prepared for Mr.

Gates's trial. 1RP 202.

In November, defense counsel again moved to continue.

O'Connor stated, "Since Ms. Freer and I took over Mr. Gates's representation, Ms. Freer has pretty consistently been in trial and I myself was in trial quite a bit of time." She provided a declaration stating:

[W]e are the second team of lawyers appointed to represent Mr. Gates. Prior to our appointment, little work had been done in preparation. Since our appointment, Ms. Freer and I have been in trial on other cases.

CP 708.

The court expressed exasperation given that a year and a half had passed since the State charged Mr. Gates, but the court granted the motion to continue trial to January 6, 2020. 1RP 220-26.

In December, defense counsel again moved to continue.

O'Connor stated, "I have not been available in having the time I need to sit down with Mr. Gates and prepare this case, and Ms.

Freer has not been available at all." 1RP 230. The court granted a continuance to February 3, 2020. CP 712.

In January 2020, defense counsel moved for another continuance because they had to do more investigation and they were in trials for other cases. 1RP 263-64, 281. Counsel requested a trial date of April 6, nearly two years after Mr.

Gates had been arrested. 1RP 283-84. When the court asked

Mr. Gates whether he agreed with the request, he said, "Yes....With a standing objection to the way things have been going thus far." 1RP 284. The court granted the motion but said, "[t]his case needs to launch and get to trial. It is very old." 1RP 285. The court noted defense counsel's supervisors were in the courtroom, and ordered them to apply the necessary resources to the case. 1RP 286.

On March 11, 2020, defense counsel requested another continuance because they did not expect to be ready by April 6. 1RP 314. The State objected, noting, "This case is almost two years old. These lawyers, in some form or another, have been on it from the beginning. At least SCRAP has been on it from the beginning." 1RP 315.

Attorney O'Connor explained, "as the Court knows, Ms.

Freer and myself have had complex felony trials the whole
time. It's not like this is our only case." 1RP 316. She assured
the Court, "We've been talking to management, I don't know if
the Court's aware, but DPD has finally reached the point where

they're listening to us and they're in a position where we might not be able to take any more cases." 1RP 316.

The court denied the motion to continue, but noted the coronavirus might disrupt their plans. 1RP 318-20.

None of the problems up to this point had anything to do with COVID-19, which the World Health Organization declared a pandemic on the very day of this hearing,² causing King County to suspend jury trials two days later.³

3. Twenty-eight months after the State charged Mr. Gates, and after denying seven requests for new counsel, the court granted Mr. Gates's eighth motion to substitute counsel after DPD acknowledged he had been constructively denied counsel.

Between March 11, 2020 and September 4, 2020, there were no hearings in this case due to the coronavirus. Mr. Gates

²https://www.npr.org/sections/goatsandsoda/2020/03/11/814474930/coronavirus-covid-19-is-now-officially-apandemic-who-says.

³https://kingcounty.gov/~/media/courts/superior-court/docs/COVID-19/FILED-Emergency-Order3-KCSC-200120505.ashx?la=en.

wrote a document in July, filed September 4, stating, "the mismanagement of this case has been an egregious miscarriage of my own right to justice and the Due Process I am entitled to ensure it." CP 717. He noted the resultant delays not only undermined his constitutional rights but were also disrespectful to the family of the decedent. CP 714-17. He lamented the "selective application of law in our criminal justice system," and wondered if any real change would occur following the "recent reckoning in our nation." CP 716.

The court held an extraordinary hearing on September 4, 2020. In announcing the case, the prosecutor noted that six defense attorneys had appeared: (1) Mr. Gates's assigned attorney Colleen O'Connor, (2) Mr. Gates's assigned attorney Victoria Freer, (3) their supervisor Seth Conant, (4) SCRAP Division managing attorney Alena Ciecko, (5) King County DPD Deputy Director Gordon Hill, and (6) DPD Director Anita Khandelwal. 1RP 333.

King County DPD had filed a motion seeking withdrawal of the entire department from the case and reassignment to an attorney on the conflict panel due to their constructive denial of counsel for Mr. Gates. CP 17-61. The motion acknowledged attorney O'Connor's statement in December of 2019, more than a year and a half after arraignment, that she still "had not been able to prepare Mr. Gates' case." CP 22. O'Connor attached a declaration to the motion, again acknowledging that counsel had not prepared for Mr. Gates's trial because their "caseloads and trials were demanding throughout 2019." CP 44.

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