FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/8/2024 12:49 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102534-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER MILES GATES,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her)
King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 477-9497

A. INTRODUCTION

Gates claims that five separate issues in the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals meet the demanding standard under RAP 13.4(b) for granting supreme court review. State v. Gates, No. 83243-3-I, slip op. (Ct. App., filed 10/9/23). He is mistaken. On many of the issues, the petition relies on selective and misleading recitations of the facts and law and there is very little explanation as to precisely what ruling or legal holding calls for review under RAP 13.4(b). On the time-for-trial issues, for example, the petition *alludes* to alleged constitutional problems that—for plainly tactical reasons—were never actually briefed or argued in the Court of Appeals. Moreover, the primary rule-based argument under CrR 8.3 was never made in the trial court, meaning there are no rulings on critical factual matters. Also, multiple constitutionally-based allegations regarding the right to counsel are levelled by insinuation rather than by cogent legal analysis supported by facts. On the self-defense argument, Gates substitutes rhetoric

for facts in order to create the perception that race-based arguments were made to the jury, when no such arguments were made.

The other issues raised in the petition suffer from similar deficiencies. This case is a poor vehicle for decision-making on any of these issues because the issues either do not exist at all or they are simply not squarely presented in this case.

B. STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

“A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.” RAP 13.4(b). Gates’s petition cites the rule multiple times in a conclusory and passing manner, but

conspicuously fails to analyze what particular constitutional provisions are at issue, how the decision below conflicts with similar decisions of this Court, or how the claim is significant enough or squarely enough presented as to call for this Court's review. Review should be denied.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. CrR 8.3 permits a court to dismiss a case for governmental misconduct resulting in prejudice, but missteps on the part of defense counsel have never been deemed a basis to find "governmental misconduct" under CrR 8.3. CrR 3.3(h) declares that trial delays not covered by CrR 3.3 are not the basis to dismiss a case for pre-trial delays, unless the Sixth Amendment rights to counsel or to a speedy trial justify reversal of a conviction. Here, Gates never raised a CrR 8.3 argument in the trial court, has not shown how the CrR 8.3 argument overcomes his failure to present it, has not shown that public defenders are governmental agents, does not claim on appeal that his Sixth Amendment Rights to Counsel or a

Speedy Trial were violated, and he has not shown that the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with any decisions of this Court. Should review be denied under RAP 13.4(b) as to his unpreserved and faulty CrR 8.3 claim and the hinted-at but not developed Sixth Amendment claims?

2. A prosecutor commits race-based misconduct where he or she injects race into a criminal case in a matter designed to improperly bias the jury. Here, Gates and his lawyer developed a theory of self-defense based on Gates's own history and experiences of violence within a self-described subculture of people committing violent acts with guns; Gates's lawyer at trial argued that the jury was required to evaluate the reasonableness of his actions in light of that theory. The State responded that the reasonable person standard was objective and that it did not turn on the subjective experiences of people in a violent subculture who might be hypervigilant. Neither the defense nor the prosecution cast these arguments in terms of race. Did the Court of Appeals correctly reject the claim that

the prosecutor, who simply argued the objective standard and noted that Gates's argument would create a double standard for people with violent backgrounds, did not commit misconduct or race-based misconduct, and is review of this holding unmerited under RAP 13.4(b)?

3. The Privacy Act prohibits recording private conversations without consent. A Lyft driver had an audio and video recording device in his car with a sign warning customers that they would be recorded. Gates was not a customer in the car and no conversations with Gates were recorded, but the recording device accidentally captured the sights and sounds as Gates shot Baker on a public street. No conversation between the Lyft driver and the customer was admitted into evidence. Did the Court of Appeals properly hold that the conversation was not private based on this Court's precedent and is there no aspect of this holding that meets the standards of RAP 13.4(b)?

4. Robbery has long been held to be a crime of dishonesty admissible under ER 609. Gates has not shown that

the interpretation of the rule is clearly incorrect, harmful, or otherwise out of step with prevailing authority. Should Gates's request for review be denied under RAP 13.4, especially where rulemaking is available to consider his proposed changes?

5. Jury instructions are adequate if they correctly set forth the law and allow the defendant to argue his case. Gates has not shown that the court's decision to give pattern instructions instead of his proposed instruction conflicts with this Court's precedent on the subject. Should review be denied?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State prepared an exhaustive statement of the case in the Brief of Respondent below and the Court of Appeals likewise described the facts in some detail. An exhaustive summary will not be repeated here. Br. of Resp. at 8-55; Gates, slip op. at 2-9. Several discrete themes run through Gates's petition, however, and those will be addressed succinctly herein.

First, as to the substantive facts, Gates's petition essentially repeats the story he told through his own testimony from trial, to wit: that he reasonably shot at a man he thought was going to shoot him. Gates fails to mention, however, many facts that conflict with this story. For instance, he fails to mention that the video evidence showed that Baker was not approaching Gates before Gates fired, that Baker, although armed, had his gun in his pocket as Gates started shooting, and that the gun Baker possessed did not have a round in the chamber, meaning it had not been readied for firing. Br. of Resp. at 48-49. Gates admitted that he merely assumed Baker was armed; he did not know that. 7/15/21RP 90-91. On cross-examination, Gates claimed that the fact he and his friends followed Baker and Smith out of the Cedar Room was entirely coincidental but conceded that it appears that the only reason both men were looking at Gates was because he was looking at them. 7/15/21RP 87-88, 105.

Gates also fails to mention that he had earlier smuggled a gun past security at the nightclub, demonstrating that he was armed and amidst a whole crowd of drinking and partying people inside the nightclub. 7/15/21RP 31-32. The jury could have interpreted this conduct as a sign of hypervigilance or malice. Either way, it was relevant to his claim of self-defense in shooting a person he had never met before. Gates also does not mention that, despite Gates's insistence to the contrary, video evidence proved that Baker did not pull a gun from his pocket until after Gates had fired at him. Ex. 4.

Gates also fails to mention that immediately after he shot Baker to death, he and his girlfriend skipped calmly past the nightclub, their nonchalance captured on video from the nightclub. Br. of Resp. at 48-49 (citing Ex. 4 at 12:10-12:15). They neither told people that someone behind the club was harmed nor asked anyone to call the police. 7/15/21RP 135-36. This evidence, too, would likely have influenced the jury's assessment of whether Gates acted out of fear or malice.

Additional facts relevant to Gates's claims will be set forth below.

E. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gates raises five separate issues in his petition. As explained below, none meet the criteria for supreme court review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY REJECTED THE SINGLE RULE-BASED TIME FOR TRIAL CLAIM RAISED ON APPEAL.

Gates argues in his petition that he should have been brought to trial in a timely fashion. Pet. at 29-37. His claim relies on the unpreserved rule-based argument he made below, but it also relies on insinuations as to Sixth Amendment errors that he never argued in the trial or appellate courts, likely because he realized that the law and facts did not support those arguments. If Gates believes that the Sixth Amendment claims have merit, he can and should bring those claims in a personal restraint petition, where they can be measured against actual

facts rather than one-sided narratives. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

a. Relevant Facts.

Gates’s arguments on this issue were initially framed around hearings held in open court. This framing failed to account for sealed declarations and proceedings in which Gates and his trial lawyers explained why the case progressed slowly toward trial. The trial judge made key observations and rulings in these closed proceedings. On appeal, the State arranged for these hearings to be transcribed, summarized the facts and conclusions that could be drawn from the sealed material, and then filed an unredacted Brief of Respondent under seal which made extensive references to the sealed materials. Br. of Resp. at 8-43, 62-63, 76-87. Appendix A to that brief is a table summarizing those events.

Gates asserts in his petition that “[t]he case sat for nearly two years before the pandemic” without any work being done. Pet. at 11. This assertion woefully fails to capture the depth

and complexity of this record. All continuances of trial were granted at the request of the defense and Gates personally asked for or acquiesced in multiple continuances. Br. of Resp. at 67.

Gates's assertion of fact is drawn from statements made by lawyers for the Department of Public Defense (DPD), including the deputy director of DPD, Gordon Hill, who repeatedly and candidly admitted he and the director did not know the record in the case. 9/4/20RP 349-50 ("And when I, as the deputy director of the Department of Public Defense -- again, I don't have their conversations. I don't have their briefings. I don't have their notes. I don't know. What I see on the surface of the case to me says enough."); 357 ("...I don't know this case. I don't know the facts. I haven't assessed prejudice..."); Id. ("I don't control the litigation in his case. I don't know the facts of his case.").

The highly experienced prosecutor, Ms. Adrienne McCoy, vehemently disagreed with this assessment, advising

the court that the case had been ready for trial within 18 months of charging.

A year and a half after the case is filed, right, we're ready to go to trial, except for one more expert that the defense has decided that they want to call. Fine. The witness interviews were done. The evidence view had been done. The lawyers and the investigators had gone down to SPD evidence and looked through everything. Discovery was complete except for the defense expert issue.

9/4/20RP 353. See also 9/4/20RP 354 (“So if we’re going to have someone come in here and give an opinion that SCRAP [Society of Counsel Representing Accused Persons] is ineffective, then there needs to be a more complete documentation of what this opinion thinks SCRAP hasn’t done.”); 355 (“I’m very troubled by this assertion of ineffective. I mean, the Court knows how many murder cases I try, and this one was ready to go to trial.”).

The judge ultimately allowed substitution of counsel for Gates, finding that Gates himself, had been a substantial

contributor to the delays. Br. of Resp. at 37-40 citing (9/4/20RP 361-66).

There was no further development of the record or findings on these matters because no motion to dismiss was brought at trial and appellate counsel chose not to pursue a Sixth Amendment right to counsel claim on appeal.

- b. The Rule-Based Time for Trial Claims Raised on Appeal Do Not Merit Review and There Is No Record upon Which to Decide Hinted-at Constitutional Claims.

Gates asserts that “the trial court had the authority and the duty to dismiss this case” under CrR 8.3 and that the appellate court “read the rule out of existence.” Pet. at 29-30. The Court of Appeals did not read the rule out of existence, it held that Gates could not challenge the timing of his trial under CrR 8.3 because he never raised that rule-based claim in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). Slip op. at 13. Without the “notice and hearing” required by CrR 8.3(b) there are no findings on the

key factual questions of whether there was either mismanagement or prejudice.

Gates does not show in his petition how that key ruling merits review by this Court. Indeed, the failure to make a record to support dismissal under CrR 8.3 seems rudimentary and would preclude any effective review by this Court, especially as to the thorny factual issues in this long record.

Ignoring these fundamental problems, Gates argues that the Court of Appeals erred for three reasons: a) the State did not raise this argument in its brief; b) Gates could not have raised the argument because he effectively had no lawyer at the time; and c) the trial court could have and should have raised CrR 8.3 sua sponte. Pet. at 31-32. These arguments are baseless.

First, an appellate court may refuse to review a claim under RAP 2.5, regardless of whether the State has raised the waiver argument, where the record is insufficient for effective review. State v. Kirkpatrick, 160 Wn.2d 873, 881, 161 P.3d 990, 994 (2007), overruled on other grounds by State v. Jasper,

174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012). Second, it is simply not true that Gates was without counsel to object below. His newly appointed lawyer undoubtedly knew of the reasons he (new counsel) had been appointed and could have raised a CrR 8.3 claim if the argument had merit. Third, although a trial court *may* raise CrR 8.3 sua sponte, there is no authority which *requires* the court to do so, especially in the novel circumstance here, where it is alleged without authority that public defenders are part of the “government” for purposes of CrR 8.3.

In short, Gates’s sole basis for seeking dismissal of his murder conviction, CrR 8.3, is an argument that was not preserved. Gates does not explain why the Court of Appeals’ decision on this point, which is dispositive, merits review by this court under RAP 13.4.

The Court of Appeals also relied upon CrR 3.3(h), which provides that a case shall not be dismissed for reasons other than those set forth in CrR 3.3, unless the defendant shows a constitutional violation. Slip op. at 10-18. This discussion was

likely dicta, because the holding that Gates failed to preserve a CrR 8.3 argument is sufficient to dispose of his claim. Still, even if an alternative basis for the lower court's reasoning, this language does not merit review by this Court. The language cited in CrR 3.3(h) has previously been examined and Gates fails to show that it conflicts with this Court's jurisprudence. The cases he cited to justify dismissal of the charges under CrR 3.3 predate the significant changes to the rule. Gates does not show in his petition how this discussion warrants review.

The remainder of Gates's petition on this issue relies on rhetoric rather than legal analysis. He attempts to imbue the petition with a Sixth Amendment flavor by asserting: that the State "did not provide him counsel as guaranteed by the Constitution," Pet. at 1; that his case "sat" for two years before the pandemic because his lawyers did not work on the case, Pet. at 11; or that he was "constructively denied counsel," Pet at 20; and by suggesting that the trial court agreed but refused to dismiss the case, Pet. at 29. These claims are both factually

unsupported and inapposite, since he never raised the Sixth Amendment in the Court of Appeals.

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